Filed 06-28-2021



STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

JUN 2 8 2021

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. DELOREAN BRYSON,

Petitioner-Appellant,

۷.

1

£.

1

Appeal No. 2020 AP1949

cathy jess,

Respondent-Respondent,

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF APPELLANT

on appeal from Dane county. Honorable peter Anderson presiding.

DeLorean Bryson #487033

Green Bay Correctional Inst. P.O. Box 19033 Green Bay, WI 54307 Ę

¢

Ħ

.

Ŀ

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Wis. Stat. § 973.05(1) states that unless expressly stated otherwise during sentencing any fines, costs, fees and surcharges are immediately due. Subsection (4)(b) further states that if any fines, costs, fees or surcharges remain outstanding, the court may issue an order assigning not more than 25% of his income for payment of these obligations. When the appellant was sentenced in 2014, the court ordered that the DOC collect and forward 25% of his prison funds until both debts were satisfied. The DOC complied with this order until 2016 when it began applying an amended version of DAI Policy 309.45.02 to the appellant, which unilaterally increased the rate of collection of all court obligations from 25% to 50%.

Did the DOC possess the the statutory authority to set the rate it collects surcharges and costs in excess to the rate set by § 973.05(4)(b) and the sentencing court and did it act contrary to law when it disregarded the court's order?

Even if the DOC was duly authorized to promulgate a rule which enabled it to set a superceding rate of collection for surcharges and court costs, can it legally implement the new rule set out in the amended version of 309.45.02 where it failed to comply with Act 21 or take any of the steps required under the Wisconsin Administrative Procedure Act?

DOC's Answer: Throughout these proceedings the DOC has asserted that several statutes provide it with an unfettered authority to set these rates.

-iiii-

همين

5

Filed 06-28-2021

STATEMENT OF FACTS

When the appellant was sentenced to prison after being convicted of (2) felonies, the court ordered him to pay various surcharges and court costs. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 973.05(4)(b), the court ordered the DOC to collect 25% of his prison funds so that they could be forwarded to the clerk of court to satisfy these obligations.

In 2016, the DOC increased the rate that it collected costs, fees and surcharges from 25 to 50 percent, in accordance to DAI Policy 309.45.02 which had been recently amended to reflect this rate change. The appellant filed a complaint since the new rule exceeded the rate allowed by statute and the order of the sentencing court.

At the institution-level, his complaint was denied upon a finding that Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c), a newly created subsection of the restitution statute, authorized the DOC to set the rate of deductions. On appeal, the respondent affirmed the dismissal upon finding that the DOC had the authorization to apply prisoner wages and other funds towards court-ordered obligations under Wis. Stat. §§ 301.31-32.

The certiorari court reviewed the DOC's ability to set the rates for surcharges and court costs individually and found that the language used in the applicable surcharge statutes authorizing the DOC to "assess and collect the amount owed" granted the DOC

-1-

Filed 06-28-2021

the ability to set rates based on the definition of "assess" which means "to determine the rate or amount of." (Ap. 105) The court then found that even though the Victim/Witness Surcharge statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.045 used the same language, that rate of collection was capped at 25% pursuant to DOC 309.465. (Ap. 107)

As for the DOC's authority to set the rate in which it collects court fees, the court found that Wis. Stat. §§ 301.31 and 303.01(8)(b) allowed it to do so when it came to prison wages, while Wis. Stat. §301.32(1) provided the necessary exclusive authority to set the rate of deduction from non-wage inmate funds. (Ap. 108)

ARGUMENT

I. THE DOC ACTED WITHOUT JURISDICTION AND CONTRARY TO LAW

The Legislature has intentionally passed laws which prevents agencies from implementing rules without explicit statutory authority and which require they take several steps prior to promulgation of any rule. (See Act 21; REINS Act). When viewed under these restrictive parameters it is clear that the Legislature has yet to enact a statute which authorizes the DOC to independently set the rate it collects surcharges and court costs, something that would have been apparent had the DOC followed any of the steps set out by the Wisconsin Administrative Procedure Act prior to implementing the new rate of collection in the amended rule in 309.45.02.

A. Applicable Legal Principles

On certiorari review, the Court of Appeals reviews the decision of the agency and not the decision of the circuit court. State ex rel. Curtis v. Litscher, 2002 WI App 172, ¶10, 256 Wis.2d 787, 650 N.W.2d 43.

. ا

.

ŧ

In conducting its review, the Court is limited to determining:

(1) whether [the DOC] acted within the bounds of its jurisdiction; (2) whether it acted according to law; (3) whether its action was arbitrary, oppressive, or unreasonable, and represented its will, and not its judgment; and (4) whether the evidence was sufficient that [the DOC] might reasonably make the determination that it did.

State ex nel. Gneen v. Wiedenhoeft, 2014 WI 19, ¶35, 353 Wis.2d 307, 845 N.W.2d 373. The two inquiries upon which the Court bases its decision, whether the DOC acted within its jurisdiction and according to law, are questions of law that are reviewed de novo. State ex nel. Spnewell v. McCaughtny, 226 Wis.2d 389, 393, 595 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999).

B. Current Statutes Do Not Confer The Authority For The DOC To Increase The Rate It Collects Court Costs, Fees, And Surcharges From 25% to 50% Of All Funds

It makes no difference whether its the statute cited by the Warden, § 973.20(11)(c); the Secretary, §§ 301.31 & 301.32; or even the statute cited by the lower court, § 973.046(4); none of them expressly confer the authority needed to affirm the actions at issue here.

Prior to 2011, the DOC might have gotten away with citing general "collection" statutes for its authority to also set the rates but post-Act 21 it is unlawful for several reasons. Act 21 created Wis. Stat. § 227.11(2)(a)1-3, which impose specific limitations on agencies and makes clear that they do not possess any inherent or implied authority to promulgate rules unless it is "explicitly conferred on the agency by the legislature," i.e., by statute. See § 227.11(2)(a)1-2. An example of when the legislature intended to explicitly authorize the DOC to do something can be found in 2016's Act 355 which created subsection (11)(c)

<u>.</u>

هريق

3

~__

Filed 06-28-2021

Page 9 of 12

of the restitution statute. It did not use words like "assess" or any other language which would require one to infer or resort to a dictionary to ferret out intent, it wanted the DOC to have the ability to set the rate upon which it collected restitution and to collect it from any funds in the inmate's account, regardless of the source:

"If a defendant who is in a state prison or who is sentenced to a state prison is ordered to pay restitution, the court order shall require the defendant to authorize [DOC] to collect, from the defendant's wages and from other moneys held in the defendant's prisoner account, an amount or percentage it determines is reasonable for payment to victims."

Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c). That is the explicit authority that must be found in the statutes offered by the DOC to support its assertion that it has been conferred the power to set an increased rate of collection for court costs, fees and surcharges and it does not exist.

Another reason that the DOC's actions offend the law is Act 21's clear statement barring any agency from promulgating a rule which • sets a threshold or rate which is more restrictive than the rate set out in the relevant statutory provision, (§227.11(2)(a)3), or **any** rule which sets a specific standard, requirement, or threshold unless it is explicitly permitted by statute. Wis. Stat. § 227.10(2m). As is shown above, there is no equivalent statute allowing the DOC to set a reasonable rate of collection for these obligations and without language specifically permitting the 50% rate or permission to set a "reasonable rate" of collection for costs, fees and surcharges, the DOC cannot bootstrap these completely separate debts to statutory authority conferred . by the restitution statute.

-4-

۶

£

Filed 06-28-2021

In addition to not having the explicit permission to implement a rule increasing the rate, the new rate of 50% exceeds the rate already set out in the relevant statute. Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b) specifically sets a cap on the collection of these obligations at 25 percent. This Court has repeatedly stated this in unpublished cases. *See State v. White*, 2016 WI App 88, *12(payment of the crime victim and witness surcharge is governed by §973.05, which subjects White to a deduction not to exceed 25% of prison funds); *State v. Adams*, 2017 WI App 41, ¶4, n.4 (Wis. Stat. §973.05(4)(b) caps garnishments by the prison at 25%).

C. The Amended Policy Was Not Lawfully Promulgated Under The Wisconsin Administrative Procedure Act

Even if the Legislature had explicitly conferred the authority to set the rate of collection at issue here, this Court would still have to find that the implementation of 309.45.02 was contrary to law because the DOC failed to take the necessary steps to lawfully promulgate this new policy. While the 2017 REINS Act also added the requirement that all agencies must submit scope statements to the Department of Administration so that it can make a determination of whether the agency has the authority to promulgate the proposed rule, it did not alter Act 21's requirement that agencies submit a statement of scope to the Governor for approval prior to drafting a proposed rule, and also submit a final draft of the rule to the Governor for approval prior to being able to submit it to the Legislature. The DOC does not even attempt to allege that it complied with any of the requirements listed in حرو Chapter 227 and, accordingly, even the portion of 309.45.02 increasing the rate of restitution which is authorized by statute, is invalid.

-5-

جع

Filed 06-28-2021

D. The DOC's 2016 Rule Cannot Overrule The 2014 Order Of The Sentencing Court

Even if the DOC's amended rule was properly promulgated under the WAPA, it would not have the effect of nullifying the valid and lawful order of the circuit court limiting the DOC to collecting the appellant's surcharges and court costs at the rate of 25%. For example, had 309.45.02 been properly enacted, while the amendment setting the collection rate of restitution at 50% was explicitly authorized by 973.20(11)(c), the increased rate would not apply to inmates who had been sentenced prior to Act 355 and where the court lawfully set the collection of restitution payments at 25%. Under the proper procedures and with the explicit statutory authority, the DOC can enact Rules which change the law, but there is no legal basis to find that the amendment of 309.45.02 falls into either category, and even if that were not the case, the amendment would not have the effect of retroactively nullifying the valid order of the sentencing court. The DOC has simply gone too far and the Legislature obviously did not see the need to alter the rate in which the government is paid the various fees, surcharges and court costs which come with every criminal conviction.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, this Court should find that the DOC acted without jurisdiction when it implemented a Rule without explicit statutory authority and without following the WAPA and that it acted contrary to law when it collected these debts at a rate which exceeded the statutory cap and the order of the sentencing court.

-6-

ø

سلحظة