Brief of Respondent

Filed 07-28-2021

Page 1 of 28

FILED 07-28-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP1949

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. DELOREAN BRYSON,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

CATHY JESS,

Respondent-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID CONWAY, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

STEVEN C. KILPATRICK Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1025452

Attorneys for Respondent-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. The Department properly deducts Bryson's inmate trust account funds at a rate of 50 percent to pay certain court-ordered surcharge and court fee obligations.

The circuit court held that the Department has statutory authority to deduct funds from Bryson's inmate trust account at a rate of 50 percent to pay certain surcharge and court fee obligations. It correctly affirmed the Secretary's decision, granting in part, and denying in part, Bryson's inmate grievance. This Court should affirm.

A. Several statutes provide the Department with authority to deduct Bryson's funds to pay court-ordered surcharge obligations.

"[S]tatutory interpretation 'begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, [courts] ordinarily stop the inquiry." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (quoting Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659). "[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of

surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.* ¶ 46. Further, the dictionary may be used to discern the common meaning of a word. *See Otterstatter v. City of Watertown*, 2017 WI App 76, ¶ 24, 378 Wis. 2d 697, 904 N.W.2d 396.

In Wis. Stat. §§ 165.755(6) (drug labs), 973.045(4) (crime victim and witness), and 973.046(4) (DNA), the text states: "If an inmate in a state prison or a person sentenced to a state prison has not paid the [surcharge], the department shall assess and collect the amount owed from the inmate's wages or other moneys." As the circuit court explained, the Department's authority to deduct funds from Bryson's inmate trust account comes from the "assess and collect" phrase in these surcharge statutes. (R. 35:5.) The dictionary definition of the word "assess" means "to determine the rate or amount of (something such as a tax, charge, or fine)." And the word "collect" means "to claim as due and receive payment for." 6 Further, because the statute uses the word "shall," the Department must "assess and collect." State v. Schmidt, 2021 WI 65, ¶ 76, 960 N.W.2d 888 (holding that imposition of a surcharge is mandatory because of word "shall") (citing State v. Cox, 2018 WI 67, ¶11, 382 Wis. 2d 338, 913 N.W.2d 780 ("The general rule isthat the word 'shall' presumed mandatory when it appears in a statute.")).

This statutory language provides a plain meaning basis to allow the Department to "set the surcharge deduction rate and to receive payment at that rate." (R. 35:6 (circuit court decision).) Thus, the circuit court properly concluded that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Assess, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/assess (last visited July 26, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Collect, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/collect (last visited July 26, 2021).

language in these surcharge statutes<sup>7</sup> authorizes the Department to deduct the funds in Bryson's inmate trust account at a rate of 50 percent to pay his surcharge obligations.<sup>8</sup>

B. Other Wisconsin statutes provide authority for the Department to deduct Bryson's funds at a rate of 50 percent to pay his surcharge and court fee obligations.

In addition to the surcharge statutes discussed above, other Wisconsin statutes, and the case law interpreting them, demonstrate that the Department has broad authority to deduct funds from Bryson's inmate trust account at a rate of 50 percent to pay the surcharge and court fee obligations.

The Department's authority to deduct for Bryson's court-ordered obligations is also found in Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1). This statute states that "[a]ll money" received by a Department correctional institution "for the benefit of the prisoner" is placed into an account (commonly known as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In addition, to the extent any of the funds in Bryson's inmate trust account are wages, a similar statute supports the Department's deduction authority for two surcharges—Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b). This statute states, "The department shall distribute earnings of an inmate . . . for the crime victim and witness assistance surcharge under s. 973.045(4) [and] for the deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge under s. 973.046(4)." Wis. Stat. § 303.01(8)(b). Whether Bryson's funds are comprised of prison wages is not completely clear from the record, but the Secretary assumes they are, given that Bryson took pains in his inmate grievance to distinguish "prison funds" from "gift money" from family and friends, the latter of which he argued (incorrectly) was not subject to any deduction at all. (R. 13:4 (inmate grievance), 15 (appeal).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Despite this holding, the circuit court concluded that the Department's own administrative rule limited its deduction rate for the crime victim and witness assistance surcharge to 25 percent. (R. 35:7.) The Department did not appeal that ruling.

trust account). Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1). That money may then be used "only under the direction and with the approval of the . . . warden" for payment of "the crime victim and witness assistance surcharge under s. 973.045(4)," certain other surcharges and restitution, and "for . . . the benefit of the prisoner." Id.

Here, Bryson's judgment of conviction expressly directs him to pay the DNA surcharge, all other applicable costs, and any other surcharges and assessments. (R. 13:6.) Thus, in addition to the surcharge statutes, the Department has express statutory authority under Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1) to deduct Bryson's funds for the payment of the "crime victim and witness assistance surcharges under s. 973.045(4)" referenced in that statute. Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1).

In addition, the Department has authority under Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1) to deduct Bryson's funds for payment of the court fees ordered by the criminal sentencing court. (R. 13:6.) This Court's decision in *State ex rel. Markovic v. Litscher*, 2018 WI App 44, 383 Wis. 2d 576, 916 N.W.2d 202, addressed the meaning of the "for . . . the benefit of the prisoner" language in Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1). Its holding confirms the breadth of the Department's authority to deduct Bryson's funds for these obligations.

In Markovic, the Department began deducting funds from the inmate's trust account to satisfy a restitution obligation from a criminal sentence he had already completed. Id.  $\P$  6. (Markovic was still incarcerated because of a separate conviction. Id.  $\P$  5.) This Court noted that Wis. Stat.  $\S$  301.32(1) provides that money delivered to "any state correctional institution for the benefit of a prisoner . . . may be used . . . under the direction and with the approval of the . . . warden and for . . . the benefit of the prisoner." Id.  $\P$  32 (emphasis added). It then concluded that the "for . . . the benefit of the prisoner" language authorizes the Department to deduct funds from Markovic's account to satisfy the

restitution obligation he previously failed to pay, because it benefits him to pay that obligation. *Id.*  $\P$  38.

The same reasoning in Markovic can apply to the court fees here. Like restitution, the act of satisfying court-ordered financial obligations can be for the prisoner's benefit. To be sure, this Court in Markovic acknowledged that "the provision 'for . . . the benefit of the prisoner' is broad." Id. ¶ 37 (emphasis added). A logical extension of Markovic is that the "for . . . the benefit of the prisoner" provision applies to other court-ordered financial obligations beyond restitution, such as surcharges and court fees. Id.

This Court can so hold here, based on "for the benefit of the prisoner" language in a similar statute. *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 44 ("the legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language"). Wisconsin Stat. § 301.31 allows prison wages to be used to pay the prisoner's obligations "which have been reduced to judgment." And, in that same statute, prison wages "shall be used for the benefit of the prisoner." Wis. Stat. § 301.31. Thus, the Legislature has already determined that paying down financial obligations which have been reduced to judgment is for the benefit of the prisoner.

Thus, *Markovic* and Wis. Stat. § 301.32(1) provide an additional basis for the Department's deduction authority here.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Also, to the extent Bryson's inmate trust account is comprised of inmate wages, the Department agrees with the circuit court that it possesses authority under Wis. Stat. §§ 301.31 and 303.01(8)(b) to deduct them for payment of all the court-ordered financial obligations. (R. 35:8.) Under Wis. Stat. § 301.31, the Department "may provide for . . . the payment, either in full or *ratably*, of their obligations acknowledged by them in writing or which have been reduced to judgment" from inmate wages. Here, the Department has chosen to deduct funds at a 50 percent rate to

## C. The Department's 50 percent deduction rate is proper.

Bryson alternatively challenges the ability of the Department to deduct his funds at a rate of 50 percent. First, Bryson contends that Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b) limits deduction of funds from his inmate trust account to a rate of 25 percent. (Bryson's Br. iiii, 5.) Second, he claims that his judgment of conviction similarly restricts the Department's power. (Bryson's Br. 6.) Neither argument is persuasive.

# 1. Wisconsin Stat. § 973.05(4)(b) does not preclude the Department's 50 percent deduction rate.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.05(4) applies to a defendant's failure to pay a "fine, surcharge, costs, or fees." Subsection (b) allows a court to then "issue an order assigning not more than 25 percent of the defendant's commissions, earnings, salaries, wages, pension benefits, benefits under ch. 102, and other money due or to be due in the future to the clerk of circuit court for payment of the unpaid fine, surcharge, costs, or fees." Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b).

On its face, Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b) only limits "the clerk of circuit court," not the Department. Bryson's argument fails under the "plain reading" of the statute, as the circuit court correctly explained. (R. 35:6.) *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45. Moreover, even if the statute did apply to the Department, the circuit court properly recognized that the statute "contemplate[s] the entry of a court order subsequent to the [judgment of conviction], after a defendant has failed to pay his or her debts within a court-mandated time period." (R. 35:6.) And, as the circuit court noted, Bryson "has not

18

pay Bryson's financial obligations that have been reduced to judgment through his judgment of conviction. (R. 13:6.)

identified any court order in his criminal case that has either of these qualities." (R. 35:6.)

Bryson cites two unpublished decisions of this Court in support of his Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b) argument, but neither helps him. (Bryson's Br. 5.) The first decision he cites, State v. White, 2016 WI App 88, 372 Wis. 2d 458, 888 N.W.2d 247 (Table) (per curiam), cannot properly be cited under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b) because it is not judge-authored, and so it should not be considered. Further, it simply does not stand for the proposition he claims—that "payment of the crime victim and witness surcharge is governed by §973.05, which subjects White to a deduction not to exceed 25% of prison funds." (Bryson's Br. 5.) In fact, he provides a pinpoint citation to "\*12," but that page does not exist. The other decision he cites for his proposition that "Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b) caps garnishment by the prison at 25%" is State v. Adams, 2017 WI App 41 ¶ 4 n.4, 376 Wis. 2d 526, 900 N.W.2d 344 (Table), and that is of no help to him, either. The Adams decision is easily distinguishable. In that case, the sentencing court expressly issued an order pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b), but, as explained by the circuit court, that did not happen here. (R. 35:6; 13:6 (judgment of conviction).)

# 2. Bryson's judgment of conviction does not preclude the Department's 50 percent deduction rate.

Bryson also asserts that the Department's 50 percent deduction rate conflicts with his sentencing court's judgment of conviction rate of 25 percent. (Bryson's Br. 6.) He is wrong.

Here, the sentencing court ordered Bryson to pay the "DNA surcharge, all other applicable costs and any other surcharges and assessments. To be collected by DOC from 25 percent of prison funds and to convert to civil judgment upon release from Extended Supervision." (R. 13:6.) Because Bryson's argument is unsupported by any legal authority, it

is undeveloped and this Court may disregard it. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 643, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

Even if this Court chooses to address Bryson's argument, the circuit court rightly rejected it. (R. 35:10–11.) The phrase in Bryson's judgment of conviction, "To be collected by DOC from 25% of prison funds," does not include any limiting language revealing that the 25 percent rate is a cap. (R. 13:6.) This order does not mean that the Department is prevented from deducting *more* than 25 percent of Bryson's prison funds. The judgment of conviction could have included the phrase "not more than 25 percent of prison funds" if the sentencing court intended to prohibit the Department from deducting at a rate over 25 percent. Indeed, the Legislature uses such limiting language in Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b), which governs a circuit court order assigning "not more than 25 percent of the defendant's . . . wages . . . to the clerk of circuit court for payment of the unpaid fine, surcharge, costs, or fees." Wis. Stat. § 973.05(4)(b). Rather, here, the sentencing court's language merely sets the *minimum* percentage rate at which the Department must deduct. Put another way, for every dollar placed in Bryson's inmate trust account, the Department must take a quarter to pay his court-ordered obligations. 10 But the text of the judgment of conviction places no limitation on the Department's authority to deduct at a higher percentage than 25 percent. Consequently, this 25 percent rate in Bryson's judgment of conviction is a floor, not a ceiling, on the Department's deduction authority. Thus, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Because the Department takes 50 percent from Bryson's inmate trust account to pay the court-ordered obligations, it does not contest the sentencing court's authority to issue an order placing a floor of 25 percent, as the Department's deduction exceeds that floor.

Department may deduct more than 25 percent of his inmate trust account funds. The circuit court got it right.

\*\*\*

The Secretary's decision dismissing Bryson's inmate grievance was correctly affirmed by the circuit court because the Department has statutory authority to deduct Bryson's inmate trust account funds to pay surcharge and court fee obligations. The Secretary acted "according to law." *Greer*, 353 Wis. 2d 307, ¶ 36. Thus, this Court should affirm.

## II. Bryson has conceded and forfeited issues on appeal.

Bryson raises additional issues in his brief. However, like some of the issues above, he has forfeited them—and for three different reasons. First, Bryson wholly fails to explain why the circuit court's reasoning that several state statutes provide the Department with authority to deduct inmate trust account funds is erroneous. Second, he raises an issue that he failed to raise below. Third, he has failed to develop legal arguments in support of an issue that he has properly raised on appeal. The result is concession and forfeiture of the issues.

## A. Bryson's failure to address the circuit court's reasoning

First, Bryson generally contends that the Department has no authority to deduct his funds for the purpose of paying court-ordered surcharges and court fees because no statutes expressly confer such authority. He argues that the Legislature was required to pass laws more akin to Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c), which uses language other than "assess and collect," if it intended to give the Department such deduction authority. (Bryson's Br. 3–4.) However, Bryson ignores the surcharge statutes and does not explain why Wis. Stat. §§ 301.21(1), 301.31, and 303.01(8)(b) are insufficient legal authority to provide the Department with deduction power. To be sure, he does not even address these statutes in any

developed argument, despite the circuit court making them the foundation of its decision. (Bryson's Br. 3; R. 35:5–9.)

"Failure to address the grounds on which the circuit court ruled constitutes a concession of the ruling's validity." West Capitol, Inc. v. Village of Sister Bay, 2014 WI App 52, ¶49, 354 Wis. 2d 130, 848 N.W.2d 875. Thus, Bryson's silence is a concession that the several statutes cited in the circuit court's decision provide the Department with the authority to deduct his inmate trust account funds to pay court-ordered surcharge and court fee obligations. Id. On this basis alone, this Court can affirm.

## B. Bryson's failure to raise Act 21 and unpromulgated rule issues

Second, Bryson raises the issue of the Department's DAI Policy 309.45.02. He argues that it violates 2011 Wisconsin Act 21 and is an unpromulgated administrative rule. (Bryson's Br. 2, 5.) This policy, effective in July 2016, increased the Department's deduction rate for restitution, surcharges, and court fees from 25 to 50 percent. (R. 35:4.)<sup>11</sup> These arguments are nonstarters.

This Court cannot address this unpromulgated rule argument because Bryson did not properly commence a challenge to the DAI Policy in circuit court as required by statute.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Department policy is not part of the agency record. Nonetheless, the circuit court reviewed the policy on the Department's website. (R. 35:4 (citing Division of Adult Institutions, *Inmate Trust System Deductions, DAI Policy 309.45.02* (Apr. 4, 2016), https://doc.wi.gov/DepartmentPolicies DAI/3094502.pdf).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Bryson likely raises this issue because of a footnote in the circuit court's decision. (*See* R. 35:7 n.5.) Nonetheless, the circuit court stated that the issue was "not raised in this case." (R. 35:7 n.5.)

Case 2020AP001949 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-28-2021 Page 23 of 28

Wisconsin Stat. § 227.40—a declaratory judgment proceeding—is the standard vehicle to challenge an agency rule or an alleged unpromulgated rule. See Mata v. DCF, 2014 WI App 69, ¶ 13, 354 Wis. 2d 486, 849 N.W.2d 908 (requirements of Wis. Stat. § 227.40 apply to challenges that a policy is an unpromulgated rule). Apart from a declaratory judgment action under Wis. Stat. § 227.40(1), the validity of a rule may be challenged in other limited "judicial proceedings when material therein." Wis. Stat. § 227.40(2). The Legislature provided a list of permissible judicial proceedings, but certiorari is not one of them. See Wis. Stat. § 227.40(2)(a)—(f). When the type of judicial proceeding is not listed in the statute, the validity of a rule still may be challenged, but only according to the statutory procedure in Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3).

To challenge the validity of a rule in any proceeding not listed in Wis. Stat. § 227.40(2), like this one, Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3) requires the challenger to seek "an order suspending the . . . proceeding until after a determination of the validity of the rule . . . in an action for declaratory judgment under sub. (1)." Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(ag). Then, if the circuit court is satisfied that the validity of the rule is material to the issues of the case, "an order shall be entered staying the . . . proceeding until the rendition of a final declaratory judgment in proceedings to be instituted forthwith by the party asserting the invalidity." Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(ar). Further, "[u]pon entry of a final order in the declaratory judgment action, it shall be the duty of the party who asserts the invalidity of the rule . . . to formally advise the court of the outcome of the declaratory judgment action." Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(b). "After the final disposition of the declaratory judgment action the court shall be bound by and apply the judgment so entered in the trial of the proceeding in which the invalidity of the rule . . . is asserted . . . . " Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(b).

Case 2020AP001949 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-28-2021 Page 24 of 28

Importantly, "[f]ailure to . . . prosecute the declaratory judgment action without undue delay *shall preclude the party from asserting or maintaining that the rule* . . . *is invalid*." Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(c).

Here, Bryson prosecuted no Wis. Stat. § 227.40 rule challenge against the DAI Policy in the circuit court. As noted above, his inmate complaint filed with the Department does not raise an unpromulgated rule challenge to Department policy. (R. 13:4.) And, unsurprisingly, there is nothing in the circuit court record showing that: (1) Bryson applied for an order suspending the certiorari action to allow him to commence a separate declaratory judgment challenge; (2) the circuit court suspended the certiorari action; or (3) any such judgment exists or was applied, as required under Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(ag)–(b). Thus, because Bryson failed to prosecute a challenge to Department policy at the circuit court level, he is statutorily "preclude[ed] . . . from asserting or maintaining" that the policy is an unpromulgated rule on appeal. Wis. Stat. § 227.40(3)(c).

Further, "[i]t is settled law that to preserve an issue for judicial review, a party must raise it before the administrative agency." Bunker v. LIRC, 2002 WI App 216, ¶ 15, 257 Wis. 2d 255, 650 N.W.2d 864. The law is also clear that a litigant must raise an issue with the circuit court to preserve it on appeal. State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 ("Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court . . . generally will not be considered on appeal."). Here, Bryson has done neither with regard to his Act 21 and unpromulgated rule arguments. He did not raise these issues in his inmate complaint. (R. 13:4.) And he did not raise the issues before the circuit court, either. (R. 6 (petition for writ of certiorari), 31 (opening brief), 34 (reply brief).) As a result of his failure to raise these two issues until now, Bryson has forfeited them and this Court should disregard them.

## C. Bryson's forfeiture of his 2015 Wisconsin Act 355 argument

Finally, Bryson contends that 2015 Wisconsin Act 355 cannot be retroactively applied to him. (Bryson's Br. 3–4, 6.) The Court can also dispose of this argument because, although he raised it below, Bryson still forfeits it because he fails to develop it on appeal.

This Court has long held that it will ignore arguments in briefs that do no more than make general statements and do not cite legal authority. See Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627 at 646. Doing "no more than stat[ing] the proposition without any elaboration" is considered unacceptable briefing. Riley v. Town of Hamilton, 153 Wis. 2d 582, 588, 451 N.W.2d 454 (Ct. App. 1989). The court cannot "creat[e] an issue and mak[e] an argument for the litigant." State ex rel. Harris v. Smith, 220 Wis. 2d 158, 165, 582 N.W.2d 131 (Ct. App. 1998).

Here, Bryson makes only passing reference to Act 355, asserting that, even assuming it allows the Department to deduct inmate funds at a rate of 50 percent, it could not "have the effect of retroactively nullifying the valid order of the sentencing court" which set the deduction rate at 25 percent. (Bryson's Br. 6.) But he cites no legal authority for his proposition. Thus, it is in an undeveloped argument. *Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 646. As a result, this Court can ignore it, as it did in another Department inmate fund deduction case. *Markovic*, 383 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 36 ("Because Markovic fails to develop this argument, we do not consider it further.").

Regardless, any argument that Act 355 and Wis. Stat. § 972.30(11)(c) were improperly retroactively applied to Bryson is without merit for three reasons. First, this statute, created by the Act, only applies to restitution, *see* Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c), and Bryson was not ordered to pay restitution. (R. 13:6 (judgment of conviction).) Second, even if this case

concerned restitution, this Court has already rejected the argument that the Department unlawfully applies Act 355 to inmates sentenced before its enactment when it deducts their trust account funds for restitution obligations. See State v. Williams, 2018 WI App 20, ¶¶ 1–2, 380 Wis. 2d 440, 909 N.W.2d 177 (Wis. Stat. § 973.20(11)(c) simply "codified the common law by specifically authorizing the [Department] to take restitution from an inmate's account at 'an amount or a percentage the department determines is reasonable for payment to victims." (citation omitted)). And third, as explained above, the sentencing court did not cap any rate of deduction of Bryson's inmate account for payment of surcharge and court fee obligations at 25 percent in the first instance.

This Court has explained that a "party must do more than simply toss a bunch of concepts into the air" by stating general rights without development through case citation, comparison, or legal reasoning. *State v. Butler*, 2009 WI App 52, ¶ 17, 317 Wis. 2d 515, 768 N.W.2d 46 (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 229 Wis. 2d 328, 337, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999)). That is what Bryson has done in most of his brief. His assertions should be rejected.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Respondent asks this Court to affirm the final order of the circuit court, which affirms her decision.